**Brief of Appellant** 

Filed 08-11-2020

Page 1 of 39

FILED
08-11-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2020AP742-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

LISA RENA LANTZ,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FEBRUARY 22, 2017, JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE MARCH 23, 2020, ORDER DENYING LANTZ'S WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.30 POSTCONVICTION MOTION, THE HONORABLE JOHN P. ZAKOWSKI PRESIDING BROWN COUNTY CASE NUMBER 2016CF482

#### DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted by:

Matthew S. Pinix, 1064368

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### First issue: Multiplicity problem in Lantz's sentences

#### Background

Lantz was prosecuted for her involvement in a longrunning drug conspiracy. The State charged her with a single count of conspiracy and two separate counts of solicitation. It is undisputed that the solicitations made up part of the conspiracy. She was convicted and sentenced for the conspiracy and the two solicitations.

#### Issue

Whether Lantz's solicitation sentences violate the constitutional prohibition against multiple punishments and should be vacated when because the overarching conspiracy incorporated her two solicitations?

The circuit court concluded that there was no multiplicity problem. This Court should reverse.

#### Second issue: Ineffective assistance related to multiplicity claim

#### Background

Lantz's trial counsel did not argue that her solicitation sentences violated the multiplicity Postconviction, trial counsel testified that he did not contest the issue because he did not see it as a problem,.

#### Issue

If an objection was required to contest the constitutionality of Lantz's solicitation sentences, whether trial counsel's failure to do so amounts to ineffective assistance?

The postconviction court concluded that there was no multiplicity problem, and thus that counsel was not Case 2020AP000742 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2020 Page 8 of 39

ineffective. If the failure to object waived the issue, this Court should reverse on ineffective assistance grounds.

Third issue: Erroneous exercise of sentencing discretion

Issue

Whether Lantz's twenty-seven-year term of imprisonment was an erroneous exercise of the sentencing court's discretion where, among other things, the court rejected mitigating facts in Lantz's background and inaccurately characterized Lantz as being unable to be drug-free when she had been for years?

The circuit court concluded that it had not erred. This Court should reverse.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Client would welcome oral argument if it is of interest to the panel. Publication of the instant case may be appropriate because it presents a question not before directly decided by Wisconsin's appellate courts: whether sentencing for both an overarching conspiracy and an included solicitation violates the multiplicity doctrine.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lisa Lantz was charged with multiple drug-related offenses arising out of her role in a Drug Trafficking Organization led by Bill Yang. (R.11:5.) The trouble began for Lantz when she let R.S. move into her house, where she lived with her husband Edward. (R.40:3.) It was 2014 and Lantz had been clean from drugs for years. (*Id.*) Lantz and Edward had health problems, so R.S. was helpful to have in the house. (*Id.*) However, R.S. also reintroduced drugs into Lantz's life, specifically methamphetamine. (*Id.*)

The situation became worse when Lantz let Roger's friend Boua Yang move into the house. (*Id.*) Boua had been homeless and living in her car. (*Id.*) With Boua in the house, so came more exposure to drug use. (*Id.*) Around October of 2015, Lantz tried smoking methamphetamine and suffered a relapse, which became a downward spiral. (*Id.*) Lantz was addicted again. (*Id.*) She began to buy small amounts of methamphetamine regularly from Boua. (*Id.*, R. 11:15, R.123:23; A-Ap 38.)

At the start of 2016, Lantz kicked Boua out of the house for stealing a significant amount of money from her husband Edward. (R.11:15, R.40:3.) But while Boua was gone, Lantz's addiction was not. (R.40:3.) She began to buy from directly from Bill and would "middle" in order to support her habit, which meant she started buying larger quantities from Bill that she would sell to others. (*Id.*, R.11:15).

After three months, in March of 2016, Edward had enough of the situation and told Lantz that either she had to either stop using drugs or he would seek a divorce. (R.40:3.) Lantz realized that she had to stop or she would end up dead. (*Id.*:3-4). Even her adult-aged daughter, who also used drugs, was a negative presence in her life. (*Id.*, R.11:16-17.) Lantz was in the process of trying to quit when on March 22, 2016, the police raided the house

pursuant to a search warrant related to the surveillance of Bill Yang, which led to her drug-related charges in the instant case. (R.11:12, R.40:3.)

In its charges, the State alleged that beginning in January, Lantz began to have regular contact with Bill Yang by text message and phone call. (R.11:7-11). Yang's phone had been wiretapped. (Id.:8-11; R.123:14; A-Ap 29.) Based on information gathered by the wiretap and Lantz's own statement to police, Lantz would purchase methamphetamine from Bill about 3 or 4 times per week. (R.11:7-11, 14-15; R.123:23-24; A-Ap 38-39). It was estimated that she would purchase about one or two "8 balls" each time and sometimes an ounce. (R.11:7-11, 14-15, R.40:4, R.123:23-24; A-Ap 38-39). Among these contacts, the State alleged that exchanged messages were followed by observations of Bill at Lantz's home on two occasions, February 27 and March 13, 2016. (R.11:9-11). While others involved in this Drug Trafficking Organization also "middled" like Lantz, it was Lantz among others who had regular contact with Bill, which led to a charge of delivering over 50 grams of methamphetamine over the entire six-month period. (*Id.*:5-11, R.123:18-19; A-Ap 33-34.)

#### Charges and Plea hearing

The State charged Lantz with: (1) conspiring to deliver over 50 grams of methamphetamine from September 1, 2015, to March 22, 2016; (2) soliciting the delivery between 3 and 10 of grams methamphetamine on February 27, 2016; (3) soliciting the delivery of between 3 and 10 methamphetamine on March 13, 2016; maintaining a drug trafficking place. (R.11:4, R.22:1-4.) There were also charges for items found in the home, including controlled substances and drug paraphernalia. (R.11:3-4, R.22:3-4.)

On November 14, 2016, Lantz decided to enter a nocontest plea to the charges of conspiracy, solicitation, and maintaining a drug house. (R.121:2). The remaining charges would be dismissed and read-in at sentencing. (*Id.*:7). The State also agreed to dismiss any sentence enhancers for Lantz's prior drug-related conviction. (*Id.*:6). The Court accepted the probable cause portion of the criminal complaint as a factual basis, accepted her nocontest plea, and found her guilty. (*Id.*:2-7). The State asked the court to order a presentence investigation, which the judge allowed. (*Id.*:8).

#### Presentence investigation

In the presentence investigation, the Department of Corrections Agent (hereinafter "DOC agent") explained that she had interviewed Lantz, reviewed records of the Brown County District Attorney and the Brown County Drug Task Force, reviewed the records of the jail and the Department of Corrections, reviewed the records of other law enforcement agencies, and contacted Investigator Brian Messerschmidt about the case multiple times. (R.40:4, 22). She also conducted risk assessments. (*Id.*:17-22).

In addition to the facts of the case outline above, the DOC agent also presented Lantz's history. (*Id.*:5-16.) Unfortunately, the problems in Lantz's life were not only confined to the six-month period preceding her arrest. (*Id.*:10-15.) As a child, Lantz suffered sexual abuse. (*Id.*:9). When Lantz was between the ages of four and nine, her step-grandfather sexually abused her on multiple occasions. (*Id.*) Lantz had never receiving counseling for the sexual abuse she had suffered in the past and expressed an interest with the DOC agent of receiving it now. (*Id.*:4).

Lantz was also exposed to other forms of abuse from those close to her and her mental health has suffered. (*Id.*:13). Lantz's father was an alcoholic and Lantz was

exposed to his verbal and physical abuse in the house. (*Id.*:10). Later in life, the father of one her own children was verbally and emotionally abusive with Lantz. (*Id.*:13). Subsequently, Lantz suffered years-long bout of depression. (*Id.*). Lantz has also been diagnosed with bipolar disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder, and requires medication for these issues. (*Id.*).

On top of mental health issues, Lantz also has a history of physical issues. (*Id.*). She has had several major back surgeries, as well as neck surgeries and carpal tunnel surgery. (*Id.*). She has received treatment for cancer and had a partial hysterectomy. (Id.). Lantz was also diagnosed with Lupus and fibromyalgia. (*Id.*). She also has high blood pressure. (*Id.*).

Of course, Lantz also has a long history of drug addiction. (*Id.*:14-15). The DOC Agent reported that Lantz struggled with alcohol and drugs beginning in her teens. (*Id.*:14). Lantz's addiction has been with controlled substances including cocaine, methamphetamine, and heroin. (*Id.*). By the age of 20, Lantz started using cocaine, which turned into daily abuse. (*Id.*). It led her to sell in order to support her habit. (*Id.*). Eventually she was charged and convicted of delivering cocaine in 2004. (*Id.*). She was placed into treatment, which was successful at first. (Id.:14-15). When she relapsed, she was sent to prison in 2005. (Id.). Since that time, including after her release from prison, she remained substance free until R.S. moved in. (*Id.*:15). Her criminal background involved delivery of cocaine, her involvement in a robbery during the time of her cocaine abuse, and retail theft later in 2012. (*Id.*:5-7).

Given this information, the DOC agent recommended terms of probation. (*Id.*:20-21). The agent reasoned that the Lantz's prior history of offenses, while serious, were not extensive. (*Id*.:20). She had battled drug abuse for a long time, and her prior offenses were in some way related to getting drugs, using drugs or selling drugs.

(*Id.*). While not perfect, the DOC agent reported that Lantz had performed well on supervision at times. (*Id.*). The DOC agent recognized that Lantz had a lengthy period of abstinence, and thus Lantz was capable of living a drug and crime free lifestyle. (*Id.*). The DOC agent recognized that Lantz can minimize her responsibility and failed to show remorse for the impact of her offenses on others, but the DOC agent also noted that Lantz accepted responsibility for what happened and the negative impact it had on her family. (*Id.*). The agent concluded that Lantz needed to address all of her issues, including her physical health, drug issues, as well as her PTSD and past history of sexual and emotional abuse. (*Id.*).

#### **Sentencing**

After the presenting investigation was prepared, the State was given a continuance over objection to allow Investigator Brian Messerschmidt to testify at the sentencing hearing. (R.122:2-12). The parties held a sentencing hearing on February 15, 2017. (R.123:1; A-Ap 16).

The State called Investigator Brian Messerschmidt to testify about the Yang operation and Lantz's involvement in it. (*Id.*:5-61; A-Ap 20-76). He testified to the facts contained in the probable cause portion of the complaint about Lantz's specific actions, where Lantz fit into the organization, as well as the extensive nature of the Yang operation. (*Id.*)

The State argued against the DOC agent's recommendation. (*Id.*:62-63; A-Ap 77-78). The State argued this case involved a "crime of duration...of longevity," which "the legislature recognizes" considering it carried "such a significant penalty." (*Id.*:63; A-Ap 78). The State argued that Lantz minimized her involvement in the operation, as well her other conduct in the past including the retail theft, which appeared to

be blaming her daughter. (*Id.*:65-66; A-Ap 80-81). She had opportunities in the past, but the State argued that "she hasn't learned her lesson." (*Id.*:65; A-Ap 80). The State argued that Lantz had delivered before and in the instant case, and so there was nothing to indicate that she would "change her ways." (*Id.*:66; A-Ap 81). Ultimately, the State recommended the following: 16 years on the conspiracy charge, with eight years confinement and eight years of extended supervision; for both solicitation counts four years each, with two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision; and for the drug house three years, with one year of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (*Id.*:64). The State recommended, however, that these terms would be served concurrently. (*Id.*).

Defense counsel reiterated much of the facts presented by the DOC agent in the presentence investigation. (Id.:73-79; A-Ap 88-94). Counsel did not argue that Lantz was not involved or about the consequences of the drug operation on others. (*Id.*:73; A-Ap 88). However, counsel argued that while some in the operation where making lots of money, Lantz's involvement was fueled by her addition. (*Id.*:72-73; A-Ap 87-88). Counsel informed the court that Lantz had schooling and was gainfully employed, including as a business owner and as an artist. (*Id.*:74; A-Ap 89). She has tried to serve as counselor to others facing addiction and assisting veterans with benefit issues. (*Id.*:75; A-Ap 90). Defense counsel also read letters from Lantz's husband Edward and a friend (Id.:80-84; A-Ap 95-99). Counsel also read a statement from Lantz, which reiterated her remorse over her relapse, the fear she had of hurting someone, and losing her family because of it. (*Id.*:84-86; A-Ap 99-101).

In his ruling, the judge rejected the DOC's agent recommendation (*Id.*:87; A-Ap 102). While recognizing that the author was a "darn good agent," the judge disagreed, adding that "It's almost like a disservice and I

look at this recommendation and that's what it's worth to this court." (Id.:86-87; A-Ap 101-02). The judge reasoned that "obviously, this is a prison case and it's a significant prison case. It has to be a prison case." (Id.:87; A-Ap 102).

The judge did recite some of the mitigating aspects of Lantz's background. (*Id.*:87-88; A-Ap 102-03). The judge mentioned that she was a talented artist, that she was a good wife to her husband, the work she had done on behalf of veterans, and that she was smart. (*Id.*).

But the positives ended there. (*Id.*:89; A-Ap 104). The judge refocused on the unknown persons who were sold drugs as a result of Lantz's involvement in the conspiracy. (*Id.*). The judge reasoned that "meth dealers at any level [are] more dangerous than a lot of violent offenders." (*Id.*). The judge told Lantz that she should have known the dangerous impact of the conspiracy on the users involved. (*Id.*:88-89; A-Ap 103-04). The judge recounted the negative effects of methamphetamine abuse, including emotional problems and damaging cognitive abilities, as well as brain damage. (Id.:90-92; A-Ap 105-07). The judge focused on Lantz's activity during the conspiracy such as asking Bill for drugs and that people were waiting. (*Id.*). The judge also considered it aggravating that instead of skiing and shopping like other mothers, she had been doing drugs with her daughter. (*Id.*:95; A-Ap 110).

Lantz's daughter was in her mid to late twenties at the time. (R.40:8, 3-4). Although Lantz's daughter had not been charged for any offenses related to the drug activity, she was taken into custody and interrogated, during which time she claimed that Lantz used social security and other benefit funds to fund her addiction. (R.11:15-17). The judge referenced these claims at sentencing. (R.123:95-96; A-Ap 110-11).

The judge reasoned that while others involved in the conspiracy received bigger sentences, those individuals did not have a background like Lantz. (*Id.*:96; A-Ap 111). The judge considered that Lantz was not working at time and had a drug conviction in her past. (*Id.*:96-97; A-Ap 111-12). The judge noted her addiction and mental health issues, and that she had been "assaulted." (*Id.*:97-98; A-

don't turn to this lifestyle." (*Id*.:98; A-Ap 113). The judge reasoned that rehabilitation had not "worked yet," and, "when you're out in the real world you can't stay off the drugs." (*Id*.:98-99; A-Ap 113-14).

The judge sentenced Lantz to 27 years imprisonment.

Ap 112-13). But the judge remarked that "a lot of people have terrible things when they're growing up, but they

The judge sentenced Lantz to 27 years imprisonment. Specifically, the sentence was as follows: 12 years on the conspiracy charge, with four years confinement and eight years of extended supervision; for both solicitation counts six years each, with two years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision; and for the drug house three years, with 18 months of initial confinement and 18 months of extended supervision. (*Id.*:100; A-Ap 115). The judge ordered all of these terms to be served consecutively. (*Id.*).

Lantz subsequently filed a postconviction motion challenging her sentence. (R.86:1-2.) She made two arguments. (Id.) First, she argued that the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion disregarding mitigating information and erroneously stating that she had been unable to go drug free. Her sentence thus did not reflect the minimum period of confinement necessary to satisfy the court's sentencing goals. (Id.:11-18.) Second, she argued that her sentence was unconstitutional insofar as she was separately sentenced both for an overarching conspiracy to distribute drugs and two unique instances of soliciting the sale of drugs within that conspiracy. (*Id.*:19-28.) She argued that punishing both the conspiracy and the underlying solicitation violated the multiplicity doctrine,

which prohibits multiple punishments for the same criminal act. (*Id.*) To ensure preservation of that issue if necessary, Lantz also argued that her trial attorney was ineffective insofar as he had not objected to her sentence on multiplicity grounds. (*Id.*:29-30.)

The circuit court held a hearing at which Lantz's trial counsel testified as the only witness. (*See* R.125:2; A-Ap 123.) He explained that he did not challenge Lantz's sentence because he did not see a multiplicity problem. (*Id.*:10-11; A-Ap 131-32.) However, trial counsel also admitted that if a viable issue existed by which he could have reduced her exposure at sentencing, litigating it would have been consistent with his goal to get Lantz the lowest possible sentence. (*Id.*)

In a written decision, the circuit court denied Lantz's motion. The court denied disregarding mitigating information and stood by its opinion that Lantz had shown an inability to lead a drug free life (R.98:4-7; A-Ap 8-11.) The court also denied Lantz's multiplicity claim: "After reviewing the plain language of the statues and the legislature's statement of intent, the court believes it is proper to impose separate punishments even though the solicitation occurred in the same time frame as the conspiracy." (*Id.*:11; A-Ap 15.) Having reached that conclusion, the court also found that Lantz's trial counsel had not been ineffective: he need not have raised an unwinnable argument. (*Id.*:12.)

Lantz appeals. (R.103.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. This Court should vacate Lantz's convictions for individual solicitations on specific dates for delivery of smaller amounts of methamphetamine where she was already punished for conspiring to deliver a large amount of methamphetamine over a six-month period.

It was unconstitutional for Lantz to be punished for conspiring deliver large a amount methamphetamine over a six-month period, while also being punished for soliciting deliveries directly related to the same conspiracy on specific dates within the same six-month period. The State could charge Lantz with individual solicitations and a continuous-offense charge covering the same period. See Wis. Stat. § 939.65 (2017) (allowing prosecution under more than one section); and see State v. Moffett, 2000 WI 130, ¶12, 239 Wis.2d 629, 619 N.W.2d 918 (it is not a problem to charge a defendant with multiple charges of conspiracy and being a party to a crime, whereas a conviction is a different matter). However, considering the applicable statutes and nature of the proscribed conduct, it is clear that the legislature did not authorize double punishment for conspiring to deliver and soliciting the delivery of the same controlled substance. Thus, Lantz's punishment for individual solicitations, when she was already punished for the more serious offense conspiring to deliver an aggregate amount, violates the due process clause. This Court should therefore vacate her convictions, or at the very least vacate her plea where she did not enter a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of her rights.

Whether Lantz's sentence violates the multiplicity doctrine presents a question of statutory interpretation.

# A. Due process is violated where, against the will of the legislature, an individual is punished multiple times for the same act.

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