Filed 12-16-2020

Page 1 of 28

FILED 12-16-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP742-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LISA RENA LANTZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN ZAKOWSKI PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED						
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION						
INTRODUCTION						
STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
ARGUMENT						
а	Lantz's convictions for solicitation and conspiracy are not multiplicitous	5				
P	A. Lantz has the burden of establishing that the record demonstrates with certainty that her convictions are multiplicitous	5				
Η	B. Lantz's convictions are different in law and fact	7				
(C. Lantz has not met her burden of showing that the Legislature did not intend multiple punishments for solicitation and conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine	8				
	1. Lantz is wrong that the amounts of methamphetamine for her solicitation convictions are necessarily part of the amount in her conspiracy conviction	9				

Page 3 of 28

	2.	argun four presu Legisl	of Lantz's nents about the factors rebut the mption that the ature intended ple punishments
			Statutory language11
			Legislative history and context14
			Nature of proscribed conduct14
			Appropriateness of multiple punishments15
II.	ineffective	for no	ounsel was not t challenging her ltiplicitous15
III.			id not erroneously ncing discretion
	discre canno defen	etion a ot be 1 dant p	arts have broad t sentencing that reversed unless a proves that it was exercised
			ot shown that the erred 18
CONCLUS	ION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Hinton v. Alabama, 571 U.S. 263 (2014)16
State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992)18
State v. Brantner, 2020 WI 21, 390 Wis. 2d 494, 939 N.W.2d 546
State v. Carprue, 2004 WI 111, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 3115
State v. Davison, 2003 WI 89, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1
State v. Douglas, 2013 WI App 52, 347 Wis. 2d 407, 830 N.W.2d 126 17, 19
State v. Echols, 175 Wis. 2d 653, 499 N.W.2d 631 (1993)17
State v. Eisch, 96 Wis. 2d 25, 291 N.W.2d 800 (1980) 12, 13
State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197 17, 18
State v. Greve, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479
State v. Hansen, 2001 WI 53, 243 Wis. 2d 328, 627 N.W.2d 195 13, 14
State v. Jackson, 2011 WI App 63, 333 Wis. 2d 665, 799 N.W.2d 461 16
State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 6, 9, 16
State v. Lechner, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998)
State v. Peralta, 2011 WI App 81, 334 Wis. 2d 159, 800 N.W.2d 5127
State v. Prescott, 2012 WI App 136, 345 Wis. 2d 313, 825 N.W.2d 515

State v. Rabe, 96 Wis. 2d 48, 291 N.W.2d 809 (1980)
State v. Ramuta, 2003 WI App 80, 261 Wis. 2d 784, 661 N.W.2d 483 21
State v. Sanders, 2018 WI 51, 381 Wis. 2d 522, 912 N.W.2d 16
State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997)
State v. Spears, 147 Wis.2d 429, 433 N.W.2d 595 (Ct. App. 1988)
State v. Williams, 2018 WI 59, 381 Wis. 2d 661, 912 N.W.2d 373 17, 19
<i>State v. Ziegler</i> , 2012 WI 73, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238

Statutes

1985 Wis. Stat. 328 § 9 m
1985 Wis. Stat. 328 § 22m 14
Wis. Stat. § 939.30(1)
Wis. Stat. § 939.31
Wis. Stat. § 939.65
Wis. Stat. § 939.71
Wis. Stat. § 939.72
Wis. Stat. § 939.72(1)
Wis. Stat. § 939.72(2)
Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1x)
Wis. Stat. § 961.45
Wis. Stat. § 971.365
Wis. Stat. § 971.365(1) 11, 12, 14
Wis. Stat. § 971.365(1)(a) 11, 12
Wis. Stat. § 971.365(1)(b) 11, 12
Wis. Stat. § 971.365(1)(c) 11, 12
Wis. Stat. § 971.365(2)

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Are Lisa Rena Lantz's convictions for conspiracy to deliver methamphetamine and solicitation to deliver methamphetamine multiplicitous?

The circuit court determined that the convictions were not multiplicitous.

This Court should affirm.

2. Was Lantz's trial counsel ineffective for not arguing that her convictions were multiplicitous?

The circuit court determined that counsel was not ineffective.

This Court should affirm.

3. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its sentencing discretion?

The circuit court determined that it did not erroneously exercise its discretion.

This Court should affirm.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither. The parties' briefs will fully develop the issues presented, which can be resolved by applying well-established precedent.

INTRODUCTION

Lantz pleaded no contest to one count of conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine and two counts of solicitation of delivering methamphetamine. The conspiracy took place from September 2015 to March 2016. The solicitation convictions were based on two acts Lantz committed on specific dates during that time. Lantz claims that this makes the convictions multiplicitous and that her trial counsel was ineffective for not raising this claim.

This Court should reject these arguments. Lantz's convictions are not multiplicitous because they are different in law and fact, and Lantz has not rebutted the presumption that the Legislature intended to allow multiple punishments. In addition, because the convictions are not multiplicitous, Lantz's counsel was not ineffective for failing to argue that they were.

Lantz also argues that the circuit court erred by not considering mitigating information at sentencing. The court did not erroneously exercise its discretion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The charges against Lantz, her pleas, and sentencing

The State charged Lantz with eight drug charges, most of which related to her possessing and selling methamphetamine. (R. 6; 11.)¹ Lantz pleaded no contest to four of the charges: one count of conspiracy to deliver methamphetamine, two counts of solicitation of delivery of methamphetamine, and one count of maintaining a drug house. (R. 54; 121:2–7.)

According to the complaint, which served as the factual basis for Lantz's pleas, Lantz worked as a midlevel

¹ The State charged Lantz and others after law enforcement broke up a large drug trafficking operation. The circuit court sealed the probable-cause portion of the complaint, preventing the defendants from making its contents public to protect the privacy of those mentioned in it. (R. 9:1–2.)

The State does not believe that the court's order prevents it from citing the complaint in its brief since the order applies only to the defendants' trial attorneys. The State, though, limits its discussion of the complaint to information relevant to Lantz's multiplicity claim.

methamphetamine distributor in a drug-selling operation centered in Green Bay. (R. 6:1, 5–18; 122:6.) Lantz supported her methamphetamine addiction through this work. (R. 6:5– 18.)

On the conspiracy charge, the State alleged that Lantz bought and resold more than 50 grams of methamphetamine between September 1, 2015, and March 22, 2016. (R. 6:1, 5– 18.) An informant who once lived with Lantz told law enforcement that Lantz was purchasing one to four ounces of methamphetamine a week from a man named Bill Yang. (R. 6:7–8.) Lantz admitted to law enforcement that, from January 2, 2016, until her arrest in mid-March 2016, she had bought either 3.6 grams or 7.2 grams of methamphetamine from Yang three or four times a week and sold about half of it to others. (R. 6:14–15.)

The solicitation charges alleged that Lantz bought between three and ten grams of methamphetamine from Yang on February 27, 2016, and on March 13, 2016. (R. 6:1– 2, 8–11.) These charges were based on phone calls and text messages between Lantz and Yang that law enforcement intercepted on a wiretap. (R. 6:8-11.) During the calls and messages, Lantz ordered methamphetamine from Yang to resell. (R. 6:8–11.)

After Lantz pleaded no contest, the circuit court sentenced her to four years of initial confinement and eight years of extended supervision on the conspiracy conviction, two years of confinement and four years of supervision on both of the solicitation convictions, and 18 months each of confinement and supervision on the drug-house conviction. (R. 50; 123:100.) The court ordered that she serve all four sentences consecutively. (R. 50; 123:100.)

Postconviction proceedings

After sentencing, Lantz filed a postconviction motion. (R. 86.) In it, she alleged that that her convictions for solicitation and conspiracy were multiplicitous because the solicitation charges were for acts that she also committed during the conspiracy. (R. 86:2, 19–28.) Lantz also alleged that her trial counsel had been ineffective for not arguing that the convictions were multiplicitous. (R. 86:29–31.) She further claimed that the circuit court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion when it disregarded mitigating information about her background and ignored her periods of her sobriety when it said that she was unable to stay drug free. (R. 86:1, 11–18.)

The circuit court held a hearing on Lantz's claim. (R. 125.) At the hearing, Lantz's trial counsel testified that he did not challenge the solicitation and conspiracy convictions because he did not believe that they were multiplicitous. (R. 125:10.)

The circuit court denied Lantz's motion. (R. 98.) It determined that the conspiracy and solicitation charges were not multiplicitous because they were not the same in law and fact and the Legislature did not intend to prohibit multiple punishments for the crimes. (R. 98:8–11.) The court also held that counsel was not ineffective for not raising this argument. (R. 98:12.)

The court further rejected Lantz's argument that it had erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion. (R. 98:3–8.) The court explained that it had recognized that there were mitigating factors, but they were outweighed by the aggravating factors. (R. 98:3–5.) The court also concluded that it had not erred when it said Lantz could not stay drug free. (R. 98:5–7.)

Lantz appeals. (R. 103.) The State will address additional facts where relevant in the Argument section.

ARGUMENT

I. Lantz's convictions for solicitation and conspiracy are not multiplicitous.

Lantz contends that her two convictions for solicitation are multiplicitous because they encompass actions she was punished for in her conspiracy conviction. (Lantz's Br. 18–25.) Or, as she puts it, "the two solicitations were part of Lantz's single intent and design to further the conspiracy for which she was also punished." (Lantz's Br. 20.)

This Court should reject this argument. Lantz's conspiracy and solicitation convictions are different in law and fact, so this Court presumes that the Legislature authorized that Lantz could be punished under both statutes. And Lantz has not rebutted that presumption. Her convictions are not multiplicitous.

A. Lantz has the burden of establishing that the record demonstrates with certainty that her convictions are multiplicitous.

"Multiplicity arises where the defendant is [convicted of] more than one count for a single offense." *State v. Rabe*, 96 Wis. 2d 48, 61, 291 N.W.2d 809 (1980). These convictions can violate the state and federal constitutions' protections against Double Jeopardy. *State v. Brantner*, 2020 WI 21, ¶ 24, 390 Wis. 2d 494, 939 N.W.2d 546.

Convictions are multiplicitous when "the [L]egislature has not authorized multiple charges and cumulative punishments." *State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 37, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1. If statutes authorize multiple convictions, then the convictions are not multiplicitous. *Brantner*, 390 Wis. 2d 494, ¶ 24. Courts use a two-prong test to determine whether convictions are multiplicitous. State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 60, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238. The first prong considers whether two offenses are identical in law and fact. Crimes "are identical in law if one offense does not require proof of any fact in addition to those which must be proved for the other offense." Id. Crimes "are not identical in fact if the acts allegedly committed are sufficiently different in fact to demonstrate that separate crimes have been committed." Id.

The second prong of the multiplicity test considers legislative intent. *Id.* ¶¶ 61–63. The outcome of the first prong determines which of two presumptions a court will apply when analyzing the second prong. *Id.* ¶¶ 61–62.

If two offenses are identical in both fact and law, then a court presumes that the Legislature did not authorize cumulative punishments. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 61. The State must rebut that presumption by showing "a clear indication of contrary legislative intent." *Id.*

By contrast, if two offenses are different in fact or law, then a court presumes that the Legislature authorized cumulative punishments. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 62. Under those circumstances, "it is the defendant's burden to show a clear legislative intent that cumulative punishments are not authorized." *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶ 45. And if the defendant succeeds in showing that the Legislature did not intend multiple punishments, she will have shown a due process violation, not a double jeopardy violation. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 62.

Lantz's pleaded no contest to the solicitation and conspiracy charges. By doing so, she forfeited her multiplicity claim unless this Court can determine with certainty that the record establishes are multiplicitous. *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶¶ 46, 51, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886.

Whether charges are multiplicitous is a question of law that this Court reviews independently. *Brantner*, 390 Wis. 2d 494, \P 8.

B. Lantz's convictions are different in law and fact.

Lantz concedes that her solicitation and conspiracy convictions are different in law. (Lantz's Br. 20–25.) The State agrees.

"[T]he three elements of conspiracy are: (1) intent by the defendant that the crime be committed; (2) agreement between the defendant and at least one other person to commit the crime; and (3) an act performed by one of the conspirators in furtherance of the conspiracy." *State v. Peralta*, 2011 WI App 81, ¶ 18, 334 Wis. 2d 159, 800 N.W.2d 512; Wis. Stat. §§ 939.31, 961.41(1x).

Two elements must be shown to prove solicitation. They are (1) that the defendant intended a felony be committed, and (2) that the defendant advised someone to commit that crime under circumstances that indicate that the defendant intended the felony be committed. Wis. Stat. § 939.30(1).

These crimes are not the same in law. They have different elements, and each thus requires proof of some fact that the other does not. Both crimes required Lantz to intend that delivery of methamphetamine be committed. But the conspiracy charge required her to agree with another person to commit the crime and that one of the conspirators commit an act in furtherance of the conspiracy. Solicitation required Lantz to advise someone to commit a felony under circumstances that showed her intent that the felony be committed. Each crime requires proof of facts that the other does not, and they are not the same in law. The convictions are also not the same in fact. Lantz was convicted of conspiring to deliver more than 50 grams of methamphetamine from September 2015 to March 2016. This conviction was based on Lantz's repeated purchases of methamphetamine from Yang during this time. Lantz was also convicted of soliciting the delivery of between three and ten grams of methamphetamine on February 27, 2016, and March 13, 2016. These convictions were based on phone calls and text messages between Lantz and Yang that law enforcement intercepted in which she requested that he provide her with methamphetamine. These actions are sufficiently different from each other to make them different in fact. This Court should conclude that Lantz's convictions are different in both law and fact.

C. Lantz has not met her burden of showing that the Legislature did not intend multiple punishments for solicitation and conspiracy to distribute methamphetamine.

Because Lantz's solicitation and conspiracy convictions are not the same in law and fact, she has the burden of rebutting the presumption that the Legislature intended multiple punishments for the crimes. This Court should conclude that she has not met her burden.

Courts look to four factors to discern the Legislature's intent. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 63. They are: "(1) all applicable statutory language; (2) the legislative history and context of the statutes; (3) the nature of the proscribed conduct; and (4) the appropriateness of multiple punishments for the conduct." *Id*.

1. Lantz is wrong that the amounts of methamphetamine for her solicitation convictions are necessarily part of the amount in her conspiracy conviction.

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